

# AUTODESK<sup>®</sup> AUTOCAD<sup>®</sup> PLANT 3D

## AutoCAD Plant 3D – How to Manage Large Projects

Large projects are not handled by a single designer and so correspondingly, a large project should not reside in a single DWG. Sounds logical, but how do you divide up a large project so that many designers can work together as a team. Split it up into lots of DWG's! Sounds easy, but how?

This document will give you some ideas as to how to organize your Plant 3D project so that the project remains as a single project for reporting and yet has many drawing / model files, so that designers of different disciplines can work together and yet work with manageable data sets so that modeling response remains good. The way we will do this is through extensive use of XREF's.

And just as no two projects are the same, there are many different ways to organize a project. We'll suggest one way, but you can modify these suggestions in order to suit your needs better.

#### Contents

Getting Started
Setting Up Your Project
Controlling Rights between Disciplines4
Working With Xref's5
Simplifying Working with Xref's6
Modeling Using Xref's7
Managing Drawing Sizes With Xref's8
Data Management
Working In a Distributed Environment9
Managing Deliverables9
Piping Isometrics10
Orthographic Drawings12
Working with a Master Model14
Working with Navisworks15
SQL Server
Autodesk Vault19
Conclusions
Appendix 1 – Managing Drawing Rights Access
Windows Folder Structure
Plant 3D Project Folder Structure22

## **Getting Started**

Before you start to create the project in Plant 3D, take a big step backwards and look at the project as a whole. Think about how to logically split it up. If it is a big site, all on one level mainly, like a refinery then look at a site plan and then divide it up into areas. Each area may be a process unit, or it may be a logical sub-division of a process unit, but consider it as an AREA. In the case of a multi-story plant, you may want to treat each floor as an area and then subdivide into physical areas.

In this example we will be working on a refinery-like project. We have a site plan and into that we have broken it up into a number of areas:



In this case we have 14 areas. In the middle is a pipe rack which joins up the separate areas (Area 2), this is considered a separate area since we want a designer to be responsible ONLY for considering the layout of the pipes in the rack. Area 13 is a servicing area and contains no 'plant' items (i.e. the models in this area are AEC models, not Plant 3D models) and so there are no P&IDs and no Plant models in this area.

Within each area we have to consider Equipment, Structures and Piping. And if we have different designers focusing on each discipline, we probably want to divide up our areas into the disciplines.

## Setting Up Your Project

Using the example above we have decided that we will have 14 areas. Each Area can managed by a lead designer but each area has a design team comprising equipment layout designers, Structural layout designers and piping designers.

In the case of P&ID's we have split the project up into 3 process areas plus one utilities area which will contain all the Utility P&ID's (or ULD's). The fact that the P&ID Area will span several of the Piping areas is not important as Plant 3D will track and manage all the lines and equipment in the project.

So the project will look like this in Plant 3D Project Manager:



Note we have 4 P&ID Area's and 13 Piping Areas. We have also allocated folders in 'Related Files'. Here we will store or reference the site plan drawings in the 'Civil' folder. Since Area 13 does not contain any Plant 3D models (it is AEC) we have placed Area 13 in the section of the project. We also created a Navisworks folder so that we can store the associated .nwf files which will allow us to assign materials to the model files in order to create realistic renderings of the model while we are designing. We can also place the .nwd files here for project review sessions. This allows project reviews to take place while design work proceeds, without interrupting design work

Now looking at Area 6 as an example:



We have created a Structural file in the Structures folder, an Equipment Modeling file in the Equipment folder and 2 Piping files in the Piping folder.

This structure keeps the file content small and manageable and yet allows maximum flexibility in working in the project. By using Xref's, the designer can focus on the part of the model he is particularly interested in at any moment by unloading the Xref's he doesn't need. Then when he needs more information, simply reload the Xref's for full model realization.

#### **Controlling Rights between Disciplines**

In some organizations CAD Managers feel more comfortable controlling who has write-access to drawings based on their discipline. For example, so that Structural designers cannot change piping configurations. Many CAD Managers (or Project Administrators) do this by setting access rights at the folder level. In the above example, the hierarchy is area-based and disciplines are sub-folders of the area. In this case, the administrator will need to set rights for every discipline in every area. Note that this would be done at the project setup and the rights would only need to be changed when project personnel change.

You set access rights directly to files and folders in Windows explorer. AutoCAD Plant 3D recognizes access rights, but you do not manage access rights in project setup.

An alternative approach could be to set a folder structure with the disciplines at the top and areas are sub-folders for each area. In this approach the rights need only be set at the discipline folder level. The project would look something like this:

🗄 🖟 Plant 3D Drawings
🖶 🔚 Equipment-P3D
Fire Protection-P3D
🖶 🔚 Mechanical-P3D
🖶 🔚 Pipe Rack-P3D
🖶 🔚 Plumbing-P3D
Presentation Graphics
🗄 🔚 MEP Equipment files

However, Plant 3D folders do not need to exactly match the windows folder structure, so it is possible to set up the project folder to be hierarchical based on areas (as shown above) but have the windows folder structure be set up based on disciplines. See Appendix 1 for more information on how to set this up.

### Working With Xref's.

Plant 3D is designed to work *intelligently* with Xref's. Pipes and Piping Components will connect to pipes and piping components, and even equipment nozzles, in Xref models. So when using the Route Pipe command, by clicking on the equipment nozzle in the Xref, the connection will be made and the correct components will be placed as shown here:



Note that the pump is in the equipment Xref and that since we were routing an 8" line and connecting to a 10" nozzle, a 10" mating flange with a 10x8 reducer was placed in the piping model. Also note the connection adds bolts and the gasket..

#### Simplifying Working with Xref's

One useful way of managing the Area Xref's is to have a master area drawing. This is essentially an **empty** model file with **all** the area models loaded as Xref's. In this example Area 6 master area drawing is Area6.dwg:



It is important that these Xref's be loaded as **Attachment** and it is recommend that you use relative path as shown below. Setting the Path Type to Relative Path makes moving the project easier.

Preview	Scale	Path type	
	X: 1.00	(Relative path •)	6- <i>8</i> -0
	Y: 1.00	Rotation	File References Reference Name
	Z: 1.00	Specify On-screen	Area6*
	Uniform Scale	Angle: 0	6-B-1000_Piping
NINGC222/2008	Insertion point     Specify On ecreen		
	X: 0.00	Block Unit	
Attachment     Overlay	Y: 0.00	Unit: Inches	
	Z: 0.00	Factor: 1.0000	
Locate using Geographic Data			

The Area Master file is maintained by a project lead who ensures that **all** the model files in that area are attached. The reason we will use **attachment** reference type, rather than the usual overlay, is that we will be using these Area Master files as Xref's in the Master Model (see later) and we want the nested Xref's to display.

By creating these Area Master models, we make managing model files in the area simpler. Now any designer working in that area simply attaches this one file as an Xref, **but in this case in Overlay mode** and he will be sure that all the models in that area are attached. (A warning message detecting circular references may be displayed, simply click on Continue.) If working across areas, for example connecting pipes to a pipe rack that may be in a separate area (for example attaching to pipes in Pipe Racks), then simply attach that Area Master drawing and then detach (or unload) when no longer needed.

**Word of warning re Circular References:** If you follow the guidelines above, then circular references (file referring back to itself as a lower nested Xref file) will be taken care of by AutoCAD. The danger arises when you need to Xref a file in another area. In this case if you attach the **external area** file to your model file as an **attachment**, you will create circular references in the Master Model file (see below) or in the Orthographic Drawing master model files. To avoid this problem, best practice is to use the **overlay** reference type for these external files.

Designers can turn on / off any layers in the reference files or unload the whole reference file as needed.

#### Modeling Using Xref's

Xref's make it very easy to work in large models. Here the piping designer is concentrating on piping around a pump:



By unloading the structure and turning off some of the piping layers, a better view is obtained making piping easier:



#### **Managing Drawing Sizes With Xref's**

The optimum size for a model file is 5-10mB. Depending on the hardware you are using and the type of plant model it may be better to keep the model size smaller. This can be especially true if you have objects that are not Plant 3D objects (e.g imported from Inventor or Revit). This will result in more dwg files, but good model management will maintain good performance. It doesn't matter how many files you have in the project, AutoCAD Plant 3D project manager can manage large numbers of drawings.

With experience, you'll be able to guesstimate how many lines or how many equipment items will be in each model file in order to keep the sizes down, but there is no problem adding more model files as the project develops. This is especially true for piping files.

Some users like to put all equipment in an area into one dwg. Others like to split them up into sub-areas where others may split the equipment up by levels on a structure.

In the case of structures, many users will place a 'single' structure into a single model file. This is so the structure can be exported for analysis and then replaced with a detailed structural model after the detailed engineering has been done. In some cases, the structure may actually extend across an area boundary. This is not a problem, simply place the structural model in **one** area and then have the master area model of the other area(s) Xref this structural model.

Pipe Racks are typically handled separately too. This is to allow the piping designer to optimize the space available on the rack and this is its own layout problem. Thus the Pipe Rack area may also contain sub-racks which will encroach into process areas. The best practices approach discussed so far handles this approach easily.

Managing piping models can be done in many different ways. Since Plant3D allows intelligent connections across Xrefs. Thus piping models can be divided into sub-areas or by line numbers, with each designer allocated a certain number of lines. There are no constraints on how to divide up the area.

## **Data Management**

AutoCAD Plant 3D uses an SQL database in order to manage non-graphic data. The default SQL database engine delivered with Plant 3D is **SQLite** (www.sqlite.org) Everything you need to manage the data within a Plant3D project is delivered with Plant 3D and you do not need to be a database expert nor do you need to understand SQL databases in order to use SQLite. SQLite is a simple and effective solution for managing data in smaller projects where integration with enterprise databases is neither necessary nor desirable. Thus small companies can use SQLite for their projects and Plant 3D Data Manager will be an effective interface to the project and drawing data. For more information on SQLite visit <u>http://www.sqlite.org/about.html</u>

For larger organizations who have large amounts of data stored within Enterprise Databases, Plant 3D supports SQL Server. The inclusion of SQL Express in Plant 3D allows you to select whether to use SQLite

or connect to your corporate database. A tool is included with Plant 3D that will convert your project from SQLite to SQL Server.

When should I stick with SQLite and when should I use SQL Server? This is a difficult question to answer and it depends more on how you use the data rather than how many users need to access the project database and the performance of your file server. If you are already using corporate databases and want to share the Plant 3D data with other database applications, then SQL Server is definitively the correct answer. If your project users are distributed geographically, then SQL Server may be the best solution as the database server will manage the distribution of the database, or manage the centralization of the data.

Regardless of whether you use SQLite or SQL Server, the Data Manager allows you to extract data to Excel spreadsheets for non-CAD users to manipulate the data.

#### **Working In a Distributed Environment**

Buzzsaw (<u>www.buzzsaw.com</u>) offers a very useful way of placing files in a central server to allow distributed users to access these files if you do not have a central server and WAN for project collaboration, or if you have external people/companies working on a project and you do not want to grant them access to your local network.

Autodesk-Buzzsaw-software as a service (SaaS) delivers document, data, and design management solutions to architecture, engineering, and construction (AEC) firms and owner-operators. Autodesk Buzzsaw helps organizations centralize and more securely exchange project information inside and outside their organization. And with proven SaaS technology, your company can focus more on project delivery and less on managing costly IT infrastructure.

Buzzsaw comes with a Buzzsaw Sync utility which allows you to sync local folders with those on Buzzsaw. Although Buzzsaw Sync allows you to have continual syncing, you may find it more manageable to only perform syncing at certain times of the day. (This avoids continual messages to reload Xrefs.)

The inclusion of Autodesk Vault support within Plant 3D also allows you a clean way to support projects across multiple offices and ensure data consistency.

## **Managing Deliverables**

The most common deliverables that are generated are Piping Isometrics and Piping Orthographic drawings. Generally, Isometrics are generated per line number and orthographics (ortho's) are generated per area, with additional drawings being generated for sections and elevations. They are managed differently

#### **Piping Isometrics**

AutoCAD Plant 3D Project Manager manages all the isometric drawings for you. It has separate folders for all the iso styles you need to create and setting up the styles and the locations for these drawings is managed through Project Manager > Properties:

A Project Setup		
General Settings Project Details Database Setup Draving Properties	Check_ANSI-B	Fool format
	Drawing format	Table overflow
Plant 3D DWG Settings     Isometric DWG Settings     Iso Style Setup	Maximum pipe length: 0"	To continue long tables:
Default Settings Annotations	V Add pipe makeup length to BOM for Field Fit Welds	<ul> <li>Use a blank sheet</li> <li>Split the drawing</li> </ul>
	Makeup Length: 3"	
	File naming	Spool naming
	Prefix  %Line Number% Sample 1%	23-1 Line-Numeric (101-1) •
	Spools	Content paths
	Sizing method: Automatic (Max. size)	Iso Style files directory:
	Length: 10'	Production iso output directory: D:\matthei\Documents\P3D Projects\Gas Pl
	Width: 40'	Quick iso output directory: D:\matthei\Documents\P3D Projects\Gas Pl
	Height: 8'	
		Apply OK Cancel Help

Isometrics are created by line number and are sorted by Iso style in the Project Manager:

.arge Projec	t 🗸	2 - B	S		and N	and N
Isometrics		# E 🖪 🖄	ce Fil			
	sometric Drawings	*	Sour			
<u>ن</u>	Check					
	L 10001			ł		
	<b>4</b> 10062		DWG			
	5-P-10002	E	ic D			
1	6-P-1000		hqe			
	- 4 6-P-1001		ogr			
	6-P-1002		Orth			
	6-P-1004		_			
			5			
	<b>4</b> 6-P-1006		MC			
	5 6-P-1006A		ric			
	6-P-1007		met			
	6-P-1008		Isol			
	6-P-1009					
	6 D 1012					
	6-P-1013				(F9 013 B1	IBIS EID ET
	- 6-P-1015				12.7/8"	
	6-P-1016				ITS OIS BIE	
	6-P-1017					
		_				
1	V C D 1010	(*)			SENDLE U. 45 W	STINIF U. 45 W
Details						
Project VM	. Collicercompettheo)					- 10 M

Isometrics can be created just from a drawing, in which case only those piping components in that drawing will be extracted to the iso, or for the whole project. In this case the whole line (across several model files perhaps) will be extracted into the single isometric. Note that an isometric drawing may be split into several sheets. Each sheet will be a separate dwg.

Because the isometric is <u>extracted</u> from the 3D model, most CAD Managers do not allow isometrics to be <u>edited</u> in any way. This prevents inconsistencies between the model and the isometric.

#### **Orthographic Drawings**

Orthographic drawings are created from a selection of files that are available in the plant 3D drawings under Source Files. The files are selected in the ortho creation process and may be selected to create Area plans or master plans. Sections and details include fewer files since they are showing smaller areas of the overall project.



Layering for the generated view is controlled by Ortho DWG Settings.

A Project Setup			<b>**</b>
	Title block and display		
<ul> <li>General Sattings         <ul> <li>Periodic Details</li> <li>Database Satup</li> <li>Database Satup</li> <li>Database Satup</li> <li>Part Database Satup</li> <li>Re Name Format</li> <li>Pall DWG Settings</li> <li>Isometric DWG Sattings</li> <li>Isometric DWG Sattings</li> <li>Ortho DWG Sattings</li> <li>Itile Books and Depley</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	-	Ē	
	Ortho drawing template (DWT): D:\P3D Projects\Large Project\Orthos\Styles\Default	NOtho - D -Color Dependent Plot Styles.dwt	Setup Title Block
	D:\P3D Projects\Large Project\Orthos		
	Ortho generation options	Ebow centerline	
	Show Hidden Line Piping by default	Cornered	Curved
		Apply OK	Cancel Help

Layers can be used from the 3D models or objects can be placed according to specified layer settings.

	Laver	-
Centerlines	CENTER	<b>_</b>
Equipment	EQUIP	•
Existing Centerlines	EXIST_CENTER	-
Existing Equipment	EXIST_EQUIP	<b>.</b>
Existing Pipe Supports	EXIST_SUPPORTS	•
Existing Piping Components	EXIST_PIPING	-
Existing Steel	EXIST_STEEL	-
Hatching	НАТСН	-
Hidden Lines	HIDDEN	-
Matchlines	MATCHLINES	-
Misc	MISC	-
Pipe Supports	SUPPORTS	•
Designate small bore piping as lefault Styles:	less than and including: 2"	
Dimension Style. Standard		

To update the orthographic drawings, the model must be chaged first. Then the user can open the otho, select a viewport and use the Update View command.

	n · r · =		Autodesk AutoCAD Plant 3D 201	16 -
P3D Home Isos Strue	cture Analysis Modeling V	/isualize Insert Annotate	Manage Output Add-ins /	A36
New Adjacent Edit Update View View View View	Delete Locate in Pipe Gap Table View 3D Model Tool Setu	le Update Bill of Bill of O up Materials Materials An	√A ∕ª ∕A A Ortho BOM Update Tex inotate Annotation Annotation	đ
Ortho Views	Plant Object Tools Ta	able Placement & Setup	Annotation -	
PROJECT MANAGER Current Project Large Project ■ Source Large Project ■ Corthographic Drawin ■ P-1-1123 ■ Plan-6-1001	Interview DWG Source Files			

The above process may look like we will have many files to manage, and this may be true. But by managing them in this way, drawings can be created at any time, even while modeling is going on and then drawings can be updated consistently.

#### Working with a Master Model

Project Managers often want to check on progress. By maintaining a Project Master Model (similar to the Area Master model) this process can be simple and will become the basis for project reviews. The Master Model is created by creating a model file that Xref's ALL the Area Master model files. (by following the rules stated earlier as to when to attach Xref's and when to overlay Xref's, circular references can be avoided. Here is an example:



By simply reloading the Xref's at certain times in the project you will have a project Review model which can be exported to Navisworks. Depending on the size of the project, master files may become too large for AutoCAD to open. In these cases, a master nwf (.nwf) should be created that merges all of the area models together.

#### **Working with Navisworks**

Depending on whether you want to work at a project level or at an area level, the process is the same. Simply start with the Master Model or the Area Model.

The first time you set up for a Navisworks review, open the Master Model **DWG** file. Now after performing any operations you want to do, save the model as a **NWF**. In future reviews, open the NWF file and comments, materials are retained even after the DWG files which are referenced have been updated.

Sometimes you want to do reviews at a particular milestone and want to save the project for further reviews even though the project design is continuing. In these cases, open the Master Model or Area Master **DWG** in Navisworks, and then save as **NWD**. All the model entities are now saved in a single source model which can be viewed using Navisworks.

Options Editor		
Options Editor	Memory Limit Auto Limit (MB) Merge Duplicates On Convert On Append On Load On Save NWE	▼           16225           ▼           ▼           ▼           ▼           ▼
	On Save NWF On Load Collapse on Convert Close NWC/NWD files on load Create Parametric Primitives Temporary File Location	Composite Objects
	Auto	C:\Users\matthei\AppData\Local\Temp
Export Import	, 	OK Cancel Help

For better performance, make sure the nwc or nwd files get closed after they are read.

You should also enable occlusion culling, and toggle the Harware Acceleration and WPF Hardware Acceleration if you are having performance issues.

Options Editor			×
	- 2D Graphics		
Display Units	2D Rendering	Fixed 💌	
Selection	Level of Detail	Medium 🔻	
Measure			
	Detail		
. Einks	Guarantee Frame Rate		
	Fill in Detail		
Autodesk	Carlin Carlor		
Drivers	Graphics System		
- Developer	Hardware Acceleration		=
Grids	WPF Hardware Acceleration		-
···· 3Dconnexion ···· Navigation Bar	System	Autodesk 🔻	
··· ViewCube	CPU Occlusion Culling		
SteeringWheels	GPU Occlusion Culling		
- Model	Line de Lin		
··· Performance	neaus op		
NWD	XYZ Axes		
	Show Position		
	Show Grid Location		
····· Quantification	Show RapidRT Status		
	Font Size	10	
	Primitives		
	Point size	1	
	Line size	1 *	-
Export Import		OK Cancel Help	

As a rule, only 3D model objects should be shown under render style. Enable other object types only if necessary. Limiting these enhances walking performance.

			Autodesk N	avisworks Manage 2016	FOR RESALE) Musher mv#	
Home Viewpoint Review Anima	ition View Output	Item Tools BIM 360	Render 📼 🗸			
Save Viewpoint Viewpoint Viewpoint	Orthographic \$\vec{w}_* Align \$\vec{w}_* Show	N Camera * v Tilt Bar	الله Pan Q Zoom Window + و الله Orbit +	<ul> <li>Look Around •</li> <li>Walk •</li> <li>Realis</li> <li>3Dconnexion •</li> </ul>	n Lighting Mode A	Enable Sectioning
Save, Load & Playback ¥	Camera 🔻		Naviga	te 🕶 📍	Render Style	Sectioning Export

Options Editor		<b>— X</b> —
General     A	Faceting Factor	1
Display Units	Max Facet Deviation	0
Selection	Split by Color	
Measure	Default Decimal Units	Millimeters 💌
	Merge 3D Faces	
Quick Properties	Line Processing	Merge Lines By Color 🔻
⊡ · Display	Convert Off	
Drivers	Convert Frozen	
··· Appending and Merging	Convert Entity Handles	
Developer Grids	Convert Groups	
- 3Dconnexion	Convert XRefs	
···· Navigation Bar	Merge XReflavers	
	Convert Views	
User Interface	Convert Points	
	Convert Lines	
NWD	Convert Span Points	
NWC	Convert Text	
	Default Feat	Courier New
3DS	Delaurront	
	Convert Point Clouds	
DGN	Point Cloud Detail (%)	100
DWF	Use Point Cloud Colors	
Faro	DWG Loader Version	2016 •
	Use ADT Standard Configuration	✓
Export Import	r	OK Cancel Help

You may prevent Navisworks from even loading these objects at all under the following options:

#### **SQL Server**

The decision to use SQL Server is driven by the number of users modifying the project data at one time. The default database type, SQLite, is valid for up to 2TB per file, so the project size is not the issue. Because the SQLite database is a single file, successful read/write depends on fast access. When more users access the database at one time, they have a higher chance of hitting the database at the same time (or close enough.)

Due to network configurations, server performance, computer performance, network loads and a host of other factors, a precise number of users cannot be given. However, according to SQLite.org, "a good rule of thumb is to avoid using SQLite in situations where the same database will be accessed directly (without an intervening application server) and simultaneously from many computers over a network."

As a general suggestion (but not a rule):

- 1 2 active users in the project use SQLite
- 3 or more active users SQL Server

If you know you will have 3 or more active users, you should implement SQL Server Express or SQL Server.

You must also use SQL Server if you plan to use plant 3D with Vault.

#### Database Types

SQL Server – An enterprise-level product offering from Microsoft that includes a database server with administration tools for replicating databases between sites and other advanced features

SQL Server Express – A free product offering from Microsoft that includes a database server without advanced administration tools. You can still configure backups.

SQLite – An open source file-based database used by developers worldwide. The database engine is fast with good performance.

Articles on setting up SQL Server Express and creating backups are available here:

http://www.pdoteam.com/series/plant3d-on-sql-express/

#### Autodesk Vault

Autodesk Vault (<u>http://www.autodesk.com/products/autodesk-vault-family/features</u>) is document management software that integrates with many products in the Autodesk portfolio. In AutoCAD Plant 3D 2014, Vault became integrated into the Plant Project Manager.

Vault should be used in the following conditions:

- You have multiple sites that need to share data
- Your Plant project structure contains all external references.
- You can use SQL Server or SQL Server Express.

Vault allows you to store the drawing data in a central location, and have satellite offices check in/out drawings on an as-needed basis. Currently, all xrefs must reside within the project structure, as AutoCAD Plant 3D uses its own working directory for Vault projects.

#### Conclusions

This document is a guide to help you set up and manage a large project. It is a guide, not a bible, so feel free to adjust the recommendations to suit the way you work. And remember, designers need to have exclusive access to a model file while they work. So you need to have at least as many model files as you have designers!

## **Appendix 1 – Managing Drawing Rights Access**

In this appendix we will give an example to show how you can manage a large project where different disciplines will have read-only access to other discipline drawings. In order to manage this the Windows folder structure is different to the Plant 3D Project folder structure.

#### Windows Folder Structure

Since we want to give Structural Designers Write Access to their designs and read-only access to the Piping and Equipment Layout designs, then it makes sense to create a folder for the Structures and a different folder for Piping Designers. If we also want to manage files at an area level, then we will create area folders as well:



Eap and Piping Date modified: 2

The folder organization could be extended to include area sub-folders within the discipline folders. However, a naming format which includes the area could be used so drawing files can be 3easily associated with the area.

Use the standard Windows Folder security features to assign rights to the folders:



In the above example we have assumed the user is a structural designer so we are denying him writeaccess to the Equipment and Piping Folder. When this user opens a Piping or Equipment drawing, the following message will appear:

Area 2     Area 3     Area 4     Area 5     Area 6     Parea 6     Piping     Area 7     Structural     Area 7     Area 8     Area 7     Area 8     Area 9     Related Files		Isometrić DWG 0rt	AutoCAD Alert  C:\Users\matthei\Documents\P3D Projects\Large Project\Plant 3D Models\Eqp_and_Piping\6-8-1001.dwg is currently in use or is read-only. Would you like to open the file read-only?  Yes No
tails	A 🗾 🔍 🗆		

#### **Plant 3D Project Folder Structure**

In the project we want to create a structure by area and then by discipline as follows:



However, we want to ensure that the equipment and Piping drawings are stored in the project Equipment and Piping folder and that all the structural drawings are held in the structures folder (as we created in the previous section)

We do this by creating a new folder for the area and then linking this folder to the discipline folder we created previously:

	Project Folder Prop	erties	25	ber Member	All 🚥 Dec	Exp
_	Folder name:			Cutting	Visibility	Exp
ROJECT MANA	Piping					
rrent Project: rge Project	Create folders relat	ive to parent folder sto	rage location.			
roject	Store new project DW/	3 files in:				
- 🎯 Large Pr	C:\Users\matthei\Docu	ments\P3D Projects\L	arge Project\Plant 3D Models\Area 🛛 🔜			
🐌 📋 P&II	DWG creation templat	e for folder	$\bigcirc$			
😑 🛃 Plan	Plan Plan Plat 2D ANSI Color Dependent Plat Styles dut					
	The second free boundaries					
- E (	Prompt for template					
- H1			OK Cancel Help			
E.						
- C Are	a 2	Browse for Fold	ler			×
- E Are	a 3		Direct 2D Mindels		iowa 💌 Toola	
- E Are	a 4	Look in:	Jo Plant 3D Models		iens - 100is	
Area 5			Name	Date modified	Туре	^
E E Equipment		2	퉬 Area 4	1/28/2011 4:45 PM	File folder	
	a 6-B-1001		퉬 Area 5	1/28/2011 4:45 PM	File folder	
o.Ph	Pining		퉬 Area 6	2/23/2011 5:13 PM	File folder	
111	a 6-P-1001		퉬 Area 7	1/28/2011 4:45 PM	File folder	
p.Ph	Structural		퉬 Area 8	1/28/2011 4:46 PM	File folder	
T.	a 6-S-1001		🎍 Area 9	1/28/2011 4:46 PM	File folder	
	6-A-0000		퉬 Area 10	1/28/2011 4:46 PM	File folder	
Are	a 7		🎍 Area 11	1/28/2011 4:46 PM	File folder	-
🕢 🛅 Area 8		T avoites	Area 12	1/28/2011 4:46 PM	File folder	
🖈 🛅 Area 9			Area 15	1/28/2011 4:46 PM	File folder	
Related Files			Eqp_and_Piping	2/23/2011 5:14 PM	File folder	
			Structural	2/23/2011 5:13 PM	File folder	
tails						-
Iden C\Users\r	natthei\Documents\P3		< III		•	
mplate: Plant 3	D ANSI -Color Depen					
ompt for templ	ate: 0				Open	1.
awings in this fo	older: 0				Spen	JÜ
					Canad	

Now when we create a new piping drawing in an area (in this case Area 2) the Project Manager will show it as a member of the discipline folder in that area but the actual drawing file is held in the discipline folder and assumes the rights access of the folder:



Although this seems a complex process it only has to be done at project setup time. Once the project is fully set up in Project Manager, the drawings will automatically be created in the correct folder.